
                                 
 

                                         
 
 

October 8, 2020 
 

Via Electronic Mail 
President Judge Idee C. Fox 
First Judicial District 
Philadelphia, PA 19107 
Idee.Fox@courts.phila.gov 
 
Geoff Moulton 
Gregory Dunlap 
Administrative Office of Pennsylvania Courts 
Harrisburg, PA 17120 
Geoff.Moulton@pacourts.us 
Gregory.Dunlap@pacourts.us 
 
 Re: Remote public access to proceedings in the First Judicial District 
 
Dear President Judge Fox, Mr. Moulton, and Mr. Dunlap: 
 
 We write as representatives of several civic, media, and legal organizations 
regarding the recent changes to the First Judicial District’s (FJD) policy for ensuring 
public access to court proceedings.  In particular, we wanted to commend FJD on its 
decision to livestream civil proceedings on YouTube, which represents an important 
step forward for the public’s ability to access the courts.  We also appreciated FJD’s 
recent effort to livestream criminal proceedings, and we encourage FJD to restore that 
practice.  Although we understand that the District Attorney’s Office (DAO) 
expressed concerns with the livestreaming policy, we believe those concerns are over-
stated: indeed, numerous other jurisdictions currently livestream their criminal trial 
proceedings over the internet in order to promote public access during the COVID-
19 pandemic, without experiencing the potential harms raised by the DAO.  Given 
the success that those jurisdictions have enjoyed, we believe FJD’s effort to join the 
growing trend toward livestreaming was both reasonable and justified. 
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 That said, if FJD is not going to restore its livestreaming policy, we would urge 
FJD to restore its prior practice of providing members of the public with remote 
access (via Zoom) to individual criminal proceedings upon request.  That practice, 
which had been in place for months prior to FJD’s move to livestreaming, provides 
the next best means of ensuring meaningful public access to criminal proceedings 
during the pandemic.  We are concerned about the recent change to dispense with 
that practice in the new public-access policy (as revised on September 25, 2020).  The 
new policy appears to erect several unnecessary barriers to the public’s ability to 
access criminal proceedings.   
 
 First, the new policy exposes the press and the public to unnecessary 
health risks by requiring them to visit the courthouse in person in order to 
observe criminal proceedings that are being held virtually.  The new policy states 
that FJD will not provide the public with remote access to any proceeding as long as 
the public can observe a video feed of the proceeding at the Criminal Justice Center.  
Critically, the no-remote-access rule applies “even when the proceeding is conducted 
using advanced communication technologies.”  In other words, even when the parties 
to a proceeding are appearing remotely, members of the public and the press must still 
physically visit the courthouse in order to observe that proceeding.  Requiring 
members of the public and the press to expose themselves to such risks in the middle 
of a pandemic is neither safe nor reasonable, especially when FJD can easily provide 
them with remote access to the proceedings.1  No explanation is provided for its new 
policy that “[o]nly the participants to the proceedings will be sent a digital invite or will 
be able to participate remotely utilizing advanced communication technologies.”   
 
 Second, the new policy exacerbates confusion about how the public and 
the press can access certain judicial proceedings.  The “Coronavirus 
Information” page of FJD’s website currently states that “[t]he Juanita Kidd Stout 
Center for Criminal Justice remains generally closed to the public” and that “[o]nly 
individuals who have been authorized by the court will be permitted into the facility.”  
Those statements conflict with the new policy’s suggestion that members of the 
public and the press are now able to attend proceedings in person.  The text of the 
policy itself is also vague as to what level of access FJD intends to provide the public 
for certain types of proceedings.  For instance, section (4)(b) of the policy states that 

 

 1  Requiring members of the public and the press to visit the courthouse in 
person is especially unreasonable in light of FJD’s own recent efforts to limit the 
number of in-person proceedings taking place inside the courthouse.  See, e.g., In re: 
Motions to Lift Bench Warrants (Oct. 1, 2020) (facilitating the withdrawal of certain 
bench warrants in order “to reduce in-person proceedings in order to safeguard the 
health and safety of court personnel, court users and members of the public”).    

https://perma.cc/PW9E-RB6S
https://www.courts.phila.gov/covid-19/
https://www.courts.phila.gov/covid-19/
https://perma.cc/4P3H-UJ6X
https://perma.cc/4P3H-UJ6X
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livestreams of civil proceedings “may include video, audio or both.”  But the policy 
never explains which types of civil proceedings will feature audio-video coverage and 
which will feature merely audio coverage, or how that will be determined.  Similarly, 
section (7) of the policy states that “[j]udicial proceedings conducted utilizing the Ring 
Central platform will be made available to the public as specifically provided in a 
separate protocol or policy.”  But the policy never specifies which types of 
proceedings will be conducted using that platform, nor does it say where the public 
might find the “separate protocol or policy.”   
 
 Third and finally, the new policy itself is not easily accessible to the 
public.  The policy does not appear on the “Coronavirus Information” page of FJD’s 
website, where all other pandemic-related policies are posted.  Although an older 
version of the access policy (from September 18) can be found via a Google search, 
the latest version of the policy does not.  The difficulty in finding the new policy 
creates an additional, unnecessary barrier to the public’s ability to observe judicial 
proceedings. 
 
 Restoring FJD’s prior practice of ensuring public Zoom access to every 
criminal proceeding would alleviate these concerns.  Among other benefits, the prior 
practice provided the public with a uniform procedure for accessing every proceeding 
as well as a central source of information about how to access each proceeding.  
Under the prior practice, members of the public would send an email to FJD’s public-
information office to request a Zoom link to any public court hearing.  That 
procedure was not only safer and less confusing than FJD’s current policy, but it also 
avoided all of the concerns that the DAO recently raised in its King’s Bench petition 
objecting to FJD’s former livestreaming policy.  Indeed, the DAO’s petition expressly 
endorsed the use of Zoom or other remote-access platforms as an acceptable 
alternative to livestreaming.  See DAO Petition at 31.   
 
 As noted above (and in our prior letter to FJD), numerous trial courts around 
the country—including in most major cities—have been providing the public with 
some form of remote access to criminal proceedings during the pandemic.2  The 
experience of those jurisdictions reaffirms what FJD’s prior practice already made 
clear: that providing the public with remote access to criminal proceedings is not 
simply feasible, but appropriate in light of the unprecedented public-health challenges 

 

 2  For instance, the cities of Chicago, Dallas, Austin, San Francisco, Detroit, 
San Diego, Indianapolis, Las Vegas, and Atlanta all currently livestream trial-court 
proceedings online, while various other major cities (including Phoenix, Boston, 
Charlotte, Denver, and the District of Columbia) permit the public to view or listen to 
proceedings using virtual or teleconference systems. 

https://www.courts.phila.gov/pdf/Public-Access-to-Judicial-Proceedings-Livestream-Policy.pdf
https://www.courts.phila.gov/pdf/Public-Access-to-Judicial-Proceedings-Livestream-Policy.pdf
https://perma.cc/GK4A-GGUL
https://www.law.georgetown.edu/icap/wp-content/uploads/sites/32/2020/09/Letter-to-First-Judicial-District-9-2-2020.pdf
http://www.cookcountycourt.org/HOME/LiveStream
https://www.dallascounty.org/government/courts-livestream/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCVyLxqy63gqM5edCbduX6Kw
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCRJUxuytbmPsXTE_Yl7CXDA
https://micourt.courts.michigan.gov/virtualcourtroomdirectory/
http://www.sdcourt.ca.gov/portal/page?_pageid=55,1643277&_dad=portal&_schema=PORTAL
https://public.courts.in.gov/incs#/
http://www.clarkcountycourts.us/stream/
https://www.fultoncourt.org/judges/virtualhearings.php
https://www.superiorcourt.maricopa.gov/calendar/today/
https://www.mass.gov/info-details/public-access-to-boston-municipal-court-events-in-the-central-division
https://www.nccourts.gov/assets/documents/local-rules-forms/Adminstrative_Order_Authorizing_Audio_%5B.%20.%20.%5D.pdf?.DfEX1CEsnWE2lAFi5MGyqd2fBqFEaNz
https://www.courts.state.co.us/Courts/District/Custom.cfm?District_ID=2&Page_ID=856
https://www.dccourts.gov/sites/default/files/Public-Access-to-Remote-Court-Hearings.pdf
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posed by the current pandemic.  Moreover, providing remote access to all 
proceedings would ensure the public’s right to access court proceedings under the 
Pennsylvania and U.S. Constitutions, and also ensure compliance with Title II of the 
Americans with Disabilities Act.  
 
 We recognize the challenges posed by the current pandemic and appreciate 
FJD’s recent effort to fulfill its public-access obligations.  Although we continue to 
believe that livestreaming represents the best means of ensuring public access to those 
proceedings, we believe that FJD’s prior access policy represents the next best 
alternative and offers significant advantages over the current policy.  For that reason, 
we respectfully ask that FJD restore the prior policy as soon as possible.  Thank you 
for your prompt attention to this matter and please do not hesitate to contact us if 
you would like to discuss this matter further.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Judge Accountability Table 

Reclaim Philadelphia 
LILAC Philly 
Movement Alliance Project 
Amistad Law Project 
courtwatch@amistadlaw.org 
 

Witold J. Walczak 
Nyssa Taylor 
Hayden Nelson-Major 

ACLU of Pennsylvania 
PO Box 23058 
Pittsburgh, PA 
vwalczak@aclupa.org 
ntaylor@aclupa.org 
hnelson-major@aclupa.org 
 

Paula Knudsen Burke 
Reporters Committee for Freedom of the 

Press 
PO Box 1328 
Lancaster, PA 17608  
pknudsen@rcfp.org 

Melissa Melewsky 
Pennsylvania NewsMedia Association 
3899 N. Front Street 
Harrisburg, PA 17110 
melissam@pa-news.org 
 

Michael Berry 
Paul J. Safier 

Counsel for Pennsylvania Association of 
Broadcasters 

Ballard Spahr LLP 
1735 Market Street, 51st Floor 
Philadelphia, PA 19103 
berrym@ballardspahr.com 
safierp@ballardspahr.com 

 
Nicolas Y. Riley 
Robert D. Friedman 
Jennifer Safstrom 

Institute for Constitutional Advocacy & 
Protection 

Georgetown University Law Center 
600 New Jersey Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20001 
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nr537@georgetown.edu 
rdf34@georgetown.edu 
jsafstrom@georgetown.edu 

 
CC: Gabriel Roberts  
 Communications Director, First Judicial District 


